#### 08/07/2024

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0261

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 24-0261

#### CHRISTOPHER SHELTON, VICKY COSTA, AND TODD COSTA,

Plaintiffs - Appellants,

V.

STATE OF MONTANA, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, an agency of the State of Montana, SUSAN RIDGEWAY, AXILON LAW GROUP, PLLC, PAUL S. HENNING, and AARON J. DAVIES,

Defendants - Appellees.

#### **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District, Lewis and Clark County, The Honorable Mike Menahan, Presiding.

#### APPEARANCES:

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- (1) Did the district court err by granting the State of Montana,

  Department of Public Health and Human Services' (DPHHS) motion for summary
  judgment joined by Paul S. Henning (Paul) and Aaron J. Davies (Aaron), finding

  Christopher Shelton (Christopher), Vicky Costa (Vicky), and Todd Costa (Todd)

  were collaterally estopped under the Full Faith and Credit Clause of the United

  States Constitution from litigating whether DPHHS violated the Interstate Compact
  for the Placement of Children (ICPC) under Montana law by allowing the minor
  child, L.S., to be removed from the State of Montana to the State of Utah shortly
  after birth without the consent of L.S.'s birth father, Christopher, so L.S. could be
  adopted in the State of Utah?
- (2) Did the district court err by granting Susan Ridgeway's (Susan) and Axilon Law Group, PLLC's (Axilon) Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss finding Susan and Axilon did not owe a duty to Christopher, Vicky, and Todd in the direct parental placement adoption of L.S.?
- (3) Did the district court err by granting DPHHS's motion for summary judgment on Count VII, finding Christopher, Vicky, and Todd did not satisfy the first element of a negligent misrepresentation claim against DPHHS?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On August 8, 2018, Christopher, Vicky, and Todd filed their Verified Complaint and Jury Trial Demand bringing various claims against DPHHS, Susan, Axilon, Paul, and Aaron as a result of Christopher's newborn child, L.S., being removed from the State of Montana without Christopher's consent and placed in the State of Utah so L.S. could be adopted. District Court Docket (DC-Doc.) 1 at 1-2. Count I sought a declaratory judgment from the district court that DPHHS violated the ICPC. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶¶ 40-45. Count II alleged DPHHS violated Chris, Vicky, and Todd's substantive due process rights under the Montana Constitution Article 2, § 17. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶¶ 46-52. Christopher, Vicky, and Todd are not appealing the district court's dismissal of Count III. Count IV alleged negligence by DPHHS, Susan, Axilon, Paul, and Aaron. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶¶ 59-65. Count V alleged gross negligence by DPHHS, Susan, Axilon, Paul, and Aaron. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶¶ 66-74. Count VI alleged gross negligent infliction of emotional distress by DPHHS, Susan, Axilon, Paul, and Aaron. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶¶ 75-79. Count VII alleged negligent misrepresentation by DPHHS. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶¶ 80-87.

On October 5, 2018, Susan and Axilon moved for an order dismissing the claims against them pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Mont. R. Civ. P., on the grounds that they owed no duty to Christopher, Vicky, and Todd. DC-Doc. 16 at 2. The district court held oral argument on January 3, 2019. DC-Doc. 26 at 1. On January

30, 2019, the district court granted Susan and Axilon's motion to dismiss with prejudice holding they did not owe a duty to Christopher, Vicky, and Todd. DC-Doc. 31 at 6-7.

On March 17, 2023, Paul and Aaron moved for an order dismissing the claims against them pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Mont. R. Civ. P. DC-Doc. 50.

On May 26, 2023, DPHHS moved for summary judgment asserting Counts I, II, and IV-VI were barred by collateral estoppel and under Count VII Christopher, Vicky, and Todd could not establish the elements of negligent misrepresentation. DC-Doc. 57 at 7, 13-15. On May 31, 2023, Paul and Aaron filed a notice of joinder in DPHHS's motion for summary judgment. DC-Doc. 60. The Court heard oral argument on November 20, 2023. DC-Doc. 70.

On February 29, 2024, the Court granted DPHHS's motion for summary judgment on all counts in favor of DPHHS, Aaron, and Paul. DC-Doc. 71.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT FACTS

On January 2016, Melissa Surbrugg (Melissa) delivered L.S. at St.

Peter's Hospital in Helena, Montana. DC-Doc. 50 at Ex. 1, ¶ 19 attached as

Supplemental Appendix D; DC-Doc. 63 at Ex. 1, ¶ 13 attached as Supplemental

Appendix E. On January 31, 2016, DPHHS, through Child and Family Services

Division's Central Intake (commonly known as the Child Abuse Hotline), received

a report regarding concerns that birthmother, Melissa, had tested positive for methamphetamine and amphetamines. DC-Doc. 64 at ¶ 2, Ex. 1, Ans. to Interrog. No. 4 attached as Supplemental Appendix F. L.S. was born with addictions. DC-Doc. 50 at Ex. 1, ¶ 48 attached as Supplemental Appendix D.

DPHHS did not respond to the January 31, 2016, report until February 3, 2016. DC-Doc. 64 at ¶ 2, Ex. 1, Ans. to Interrog. No. 4 attached as Supplemental Appendix F. On February 3, 2016, DPHHS attempted to locate Melissa at her residence without success. As a result, on February 3, 2016 the Child Family Services (CFSD) worker issued a Notification to Parent of Removal to Melissa for L.S. and her sibling, G.S., by attaching it to Melissa's residence. *Id.*, Ans. to Interrog. No. 3 attached as Supplemental Appendix F.

On or about February 4, 2016, while DPHHS had emergency protective custody of L.S., the CFSD worker contacted DNA Diagnostics to set up a paternity test for L.S. and contacted individuals to determine whether CFSD was set up with DNA Diagnostics for payment. DC-Doc. 64 at ¶ 2, Ex. 1, Ans. to Interrog. No. 1, Response to Admis. No. 1 attached as Supplemental Appendix F. Prior to the adoptive parents, Paul and Aaron, removing L.S. from Montana to Utah, DPHHS did not perform DNA testing on L.S. nor did it verify the true paternity of L.S. *Id.*, Response to Admis. Nos. 2 and 3 attached as Supplemental Appendix F.

The day after DPHHS had removed L.S. from Melissa, on February 4, 2016, Melissa signed Form ICPC 100A as the "sending agency or parent" and represented the current legal status of child was "Other" and handwrote in "Temporary Guardianship." Melissa also listed Donnel Gleed (Donnel) as the father. DC-Doc. 63 at Ex. 1, Ex. 2-B attached as Supplemental Appendix E.

On February 6, 2016, Susan sent a letter to DPHHS again listing Donnel as the father of L.S. However, in this letter, she did inform DPHHS that Melissa was still married to Christopher but stated Christopher was not the biological father. *Id.*, Ex. 2-A attached as Supplemental Appendix E. In this letter Susan stated,

Under Utah law, where this adoption will be finalized, a husband is entitled to notice of the adoption proceedings, although since it can be shown that he is not the father of this baby, he would not be able to block or stop this adoption from being finalized. We plan to serve him with the statutory notice of the Utah adoption proceeding after it has been commenced in Utah. Because he is not the biological father and has no basis to block the adoption, we ask that the ICPC application be approved permitting the adoptive parents to return to Utah with this child.

*Id.*, Ex. 2-A at 2 attached as Supplemental Appendix E (emphasis added). Susan did not offer any proof to DPHHS to support her statements that Christopher was not the biological father or that Donnel was the biological father. *Id.*, Ex. 2-A attached as Supplemental Appendix E. Christopher later proved through DNA testing that he was L.S.'s father and the statements made by Susan were false. DC-Doc. 50 at Ex. 1, ¶ 3 attached as Supplemental Appendix D. DPHHS also knew

Christopher was L.S.'s presumptive father before Paul and Aaron removed L.S. from Montana. DC-Doc. 64 at ¶ 2, Ex. 1, Response to Admis. No. 4 attached as Supplemental Appendix F.

Christopher did not relinquish his rights to L.S. nor did he consent to the adoption by Paul and Aaron. As a result, when DPHHS approved the ICPC it did so knowing: (1) Christopher was the presumptive father under Montana law; and (2) DPHHS did not have Christopher's consent. *Id.*; DC-Doc. 63 at Ex. 1, ¶¶ 26, 32 attached as Supplemental Appendix E.

On February 10, 2016, L.S. was placed in Utah. DC-Doc. 63 at Ex. 1, Ex. 3 attached as Supplemental Appendix E. On February 11, 2016, Susan submitted Form 100B to the State of Utah representing to Utah that Donnel was L.S.'s biological father. *Id*.

In approximately May of 2017, DPHHS' chief legal counsel at the time, Frank Clinch (Frank), represented to Vicky and others that if Christopher was determined to be L.S.'s biological father, DPHHS would take the necessary steps to have L.S. returned to the State of Montana. DC-Doc. 65 at ¶ 4 attached as Supplemental Appendix G. Frank contacted Paul and Aaron's Utah attorney, Jessica Couser, regarding the logistics of the DNA testing and worked with the Montana Department of Corrections to effectuate the testing. DC-Doc. 64 at ¶ 2, Ex. 1, Ans. to Interrog. No. 1, Response to Req. for Production No. 5, Bate No.

DPHHS 00856 attached as Supplemental Appendix F. Christopher relied upon that representation and filed a motion in his pending dissolution proceeding in BDR-2016-149 asking the district court to order genetic testing for L.S. DC-Doc. 65 at ¶ 5 attached as Supplemental Appendix G. By order filed on July 17, 2017, the district court ordered genetic testing of L.S. (referred to as Baby L.). DC-Doc. 64 at ¶ 2, Ex. 1, Response to Req. for Production No. 5, Bate No. DPHHS 01182 attached as Supplemental Appendix F.

In August 2017, the DNA testing confirmed Christopher was the biological father of L.S. These results were provided to Frank. DC-Doc. 65 at ¶ 7 attached as Supplemental Appendix G. Despite Frank's earlier representation, he refused to return L.S. to the State of Montana. *Id.*, ¶ 8 attached as Supplemental Appendix G.

#### II. UTAH ADOPTION PROCEEDINGS

Paul and Aaron filed the adoption in Utah and later provided Christopher with notice. Christopher received the Notice of Adoption Proceedings occurring in Utah regarding L.S. (referred to as Baby H.) that was dated February 17, 2016, notifying him of his right to contest the adoption within 30 days of being served with the notice by filing a motion to intervene or he would waive his rights to L.S. and to further notice in connection with the adoption. DC-Doc. 63 at Ex. 2 attached as Supplemental Appendix H. It stated,

YOU ARE HEREBY INFORMED THAT IF YOU CONTEST THIS ADOPTION, PURSUANT TO UTAH LAW, YOUR RESPONSE MUST BE IN THE FORM OF A MOTION TO INTERVENE THAT SHALL SET FORTH SPECIFIC RELIEF SOUGHT AND BE ACCOMPANIED BY A MEMORANDUM SPECIFYING THE FACTUAL AND LEGAL GROUNDS UPON WHICH THE MOTION IS BASED, AND MUST BE FILED WITHIN 30 DAYS OF SERVICE OF THIS NOTICE UPON YOU.

FAILURE TO <u>FULLY AND STRICTLY</u> COMPLY WITH ALL ITEMS LISTED ABOVE WITHIN 30 DAYS OF SERVICE OF THIS NOTICE WILL RESULT IN WAIVER OF YOUR RIGHTS TO FURTHER NOTICE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS ADOPTION, FORFEITURE OF ALL RIGHTS YOU MAY POSSESS IN RELATION TO THE ADOPTEE, AND A PERMANENT BAR AGAINST YOU ASSERTING ANY INTEREST IN THE ADOPTEE THEREAFTER.

*Id.* (emphasis in original).

Christopher filed a motion to intervene and contested the Utah adoption proceedings. On September 15, 2017, the Utah district court terminated Christopher's parental rights. DC-Doc. 50 at Ex. 1 at 1, 17 attached as Supplemental Appendix D. Christopher appealed to the Utah Court of Appeals and later to the Utah Supreme Court. *P.H. v. C.S. (In re B.H.)*, 2019 UT App. 103, 447 P.3d 110, 116 attached as Supplemental Appendix I; *P.H. v. C.S. (In re the Adoption of B.H.)*, 2020 UT 64, ¶ 51, 474 P.3d 981, 991 attached as Supplemental Appendix J. The issue decided by the Utah Courts regarding the ICPC is not as clear cut as the district court found. The issue decided by the Utah Courts regarding the ICPC centered around whether the Utah Courts had jurisdiction for

the adoption of L.S., not whether DPHHS violated the ICPC under Montana law. Although the Utah district court judge on remand found "All terms and conditions of the [ICPC] from the state of Montana were complied with," prior to the remand, the Utah Court of Appeals determined the ICPC submitted by Melissa was materially defective. *In the Matter of the Adoption of Baby H.*, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on Remand 2, ¶ 3 (Utah Third D. Ct. Judge Robert Faust Jan. 27, 2021) (FoF, CoL on Remand) attached as Supplemental Appendix K; *In re B.H.*, ¶ 28 attached as Supplemental Appendix I. The Utah Court of Appeals explained:

We acknowledge that the ICPC form in this case was defective in that it listed Purported Father, rather than Father, as Child's parent. This defect does not, however, deprive Utah courts of jurisdiction. To be sure, under the ICPC, a party could be subject to criminal penalties for knowingly violating the ICPC, see Utah Code Ann. § 62A-4a-711 (LexisNexis 2018), but such a violation does not amount to noncompliance with the ICPC sufficient to divest the district court of jurisdiction or unwind the adoption, id. § 62A-4a-701 art. IV ("[A]ny violation [of the ICPC] shall constitute full and sufficient grounds for the suspension or revocation of any license, permit, or other legal authorization held by the sending agency . . . ."); see also In re Adoption No. 10087, 324 Md. 394, 597 A.2d 456, 465 (Md. 1991) ("The fact that the ICPC had been violated in this case does not mandate dismissal; rather it indicates the need for a prompt determination of the best interest of this child.").

*Id.* (emphasis added) (footnote omitted). The issue of whether the ICPC request was defective was not appealed to the Utah Supreme Court and thus is still the law

of the case. *In re the Adoption of B.H.*,  $\P$  51 attached as Supplemental Appendix J. The Utah Supreme Court explained,

Father also asserted that the adoption was invalid because Mother failed to comply with the ICPC when she did not list him as the child's father on the request form. The court of appeals agreed that this was a material deficiency, but it concluded it was not a jurisdictional defect. *In re Adoption of B.H.*, 2019 UT App 103,  $\P$  28, 447 P.3d 110.

*Id.*, ¶ 20 attached as Supplemental Appendix J. On appeal, Christopher argued the ICPC deficiency deprived the Utah Courts of jurisdiction and that the Utah Court of Appeals erred in remanding to the district court for additional fact finding and to permit the adoptive parents to cure the ICPC deficiency, if necessary. *Id.*, ¶¶ 51-52 attached as Supplemental Appendix J.

We now address Father's argument that the court of appeals erred in remanding the case to the district court for supplemental factfinding regarding compliance with the ICPC. The court of appeals concluded that Mother's ICPC request form was defective because she listed D.G. instead of Father as the child's father. *In re Adoption of B.H.*, 2019 UT App 103, ¶ 28, 447 P.3d 110. But the court held that this defect did not deprive the district court of jurisdiction or otherwise require dismissal of the adoption petition. *Id.* However, because the district court did not include a conclusion that the ICPC "ha[d] been complied with" in the adoption decree—as required by the Adoption Act, UTAH CODE § 78B-6-107(1)(a)—the court of appeals set aside the decree. In re Adoption of B.H., 2019 UT App 103, ¶ 30, 447 P.3d 110. It then remanded to the district court for additional factfinding, and if necessary to give Adoptive Parents an opportunity to cure the ICPC deficiency before moving for reinstatement of the decree. *Id.* ¶ 27 n.7. Neither party has contested the court of appeals' determination that the ICPC request was materially defective, so that issue is not before us.

Father contends it was error for the court of appeals to remand to the district court for additional factfinding and to permit the Adoptive Parents to cure the ICPC deficiency if necessary. He asserts that the ICPC must be complied with before filing an adoption petition and that the failure to do so constitutes an irreparable jurisdictional defect. He contends that because the ICPC notice was defective, Mother's attempt to invoke the jurisdiction of Utah courts is invalid and the deficiency can no longer be cured. Father asserts that this means Montana has jurisdiction over the child and that any new ICPC request must be filed in Montana.

Id. attached as Supplemental Appendix J (footnote omitted) (emphasis added). The Utah Supreme Court disagreed with Christopher's argument and in doing so declined to adopt the Montana Supreme Court's interpretation of jurisdiction under the ICPC as addressed in In re Adoption of T.M.M., 186 Mont. 460, 608 P.2 130 (1980). In re the Adoption of B.H., ¶ 59 N16 attached as Supplemental Appendix J. Instead, the Utah Supreme Court explained the remedy provided by the ICPC is not loss of jurisdiction by the receiving state, but is punishment of the alleged violator. Id., ¶ 25 attached as Supplemental Appendix J.

The ICPC addresses the consequences of a failure to comply with its terms, and none of them involve transferring jurisdiction over the child from the receiving state to the sending state or reversing a child placement. The ICPC provides that a violation of its provisions constitutes a violation of "the laws respecting the placement of children" of both the sending state and the receiving state. *Id.* § 62A-4a-701 art. IV. And such a violation "may be punished or subjected to penalty in either jurisdiction in accordance with its laws." *Id.* 

*Id.*, ¶ 57 attached as Supplemental Appendix J (emphasis added).

On remand, the Utah district court found, "All terms and conditions of the [ICPC] from the state of Montana were complied with" and relied on the following facts to support this finding: (1) that although Melissa listed Donnel as the father on Form ICPC 100A, the subsequent cover letter from Susan identified Christopher as the legal father; (2) Paul hand-delivered the entire packet; and (3) the sending state (Montana) signed Form ICPC 100A on February 8, 2016 and the receiving state (Utah) signed Form ICPC 100A on February 9, 2016, thus granting ICPC approval by both states after delivery of both Form ICPC 100A and the cover letter identifying both alleged fathers. FoF, CoL on Remand, ¶¶ 3-6 attached as Supplemental Appendix K. Nowhere in the Utah district court's findings does it determine that DPHHS did not violate Montana law in approving the ICPC. Id., 1-5 attached as Supplemental Appendix K. Additionally, the Utah Court of Appeals had already found the ICPC was materially deficient.

# III. PAUL AND AARON'S MONTANA LAWSUIT AGAINST DPHHS, SUSAN, AND AXILON

Christopher, Vicky, and Todd are not the only parties in this action that have asserted DPHHS violated the ICPC under Montana law. On January 14, 2019, Paul and Aaron filed an action against DPHHS as well as Susan and those associated with her. DC-Doc. 63 at Ex. 1 attached as Supplemental Appendix E. In their Complaint, specific to DPHHS, they alleged DPHHS was negligent in that it owed a duty to them to comply with the ICPC, that it breached that duty by "wrongfully

approving [the] ICPC request packet which was incomplete, did not comply with each and every requirement of the Montana [ICPC] and contained misrepresentations and errors." *Id.*, ¶¶ 51-52 attached as Supplemental Appendix E. Their Complaint asserted DPHHS violated the ICPC by accepting "temporary guardian" as a legal status, which was in violation of Regulation 10 of the ICPC and that DPHHS violated Montana law and its own rules and regulations including Regulation 12, ¶ 6(a)(3) by approving Form ICPC 100A without obtaining Christopher's consent or relinquishment. *Id.*, ¶¶ 53-54 attached as Supplemental Appendix E.

#### IV. FACTS FROM COMPLAINT ONLY

Christopher was married to Melissa on August 8, 2008 in Jefferson County, Montana. Christopher and Melissa had two children together, G.S. and L.S. Both children were born while Christopher and Melissa were married. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶ 12. Without the knowledge of Christopher, Melissa had prearranged a private adoption for L.S. with the assistance of Missoula attorney, Susan of Axilon. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶ 14. In early 2016, Melissa delivered L.S. at St. Peter's Hospital in Helena, Montana. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶ 13. On February 4, 2016, Melissa completed relinquishment counseling through Catholic Social Services of Montana and with the assistance of Susan, executed an Affidavit relinquishing her parental rights to L.S. DC-Doc. 1 at ¶ 20.

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