10/07/2024

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 24-0261

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA No. DA 24-0261

CHRISTOPHER SHELTON, VICKY COSTA, and TODD COSTA,

Appellants,

VS.

STATE OF MONTANA, DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, an agency of the State of Montana; SUSAN G. RIDGEWAY; AXILON LAW GROUP, PLLC, PAUL S. HENNING; AARON J. DAVIES, and DOES 1-20,

Defendant - Appellees.

APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District, Lewis and Clark County, The Honorable Mike Menahan, Presiding.

APPEARANCES:

TARA A. HARRIS
MELISSA BROCH
Harris Law Office PLLC, Ste. 318
Helena, MT 59601
(406) 513-1412

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs' arguments disputing the adoption of L.S. in Utah were already litigated in Utah courts. Their attempt to have those issues relitigated in Montana is a collateral attack on the finalized adoption of a nine-year-old child who has been in the care of her adoptive parents since birth. The entry of any judgment in Montana finding that the ICPC was not complied with would directly contradict the Utah court's finding, necessary to the adoption decree, that the ICPC was complied with. Regardless of how Plaintiffs have sought to characterize their

claims, this action is an attack on a final judgment and decree of the Utah court and inherently threatens the stability of this child.

Plaintiffs are precluded from relitigating the issue of whether the ICPC was complied with, because the Utah District Court expressly found that all terms and conditions of the ICPC were complied with. Plaintiffs cannot avoid this determination by attempting to restate the issue or by introducing arguments and allegations that could have been introduced in the Utah proceeding. Vicky and Todd Costa were in privity with Christopher Shelton during the Utah proceeding, and had a full and fair opportunity to litigate the issues they now attempt to relitigate in this action.

Plaintiffs cannot state a claim for negligent misrepresentation based on the statement of DPHHS attorney Frank Clinch that he "would take action to have L.S. returned to the State of Montana," as this was not a statement of then-existing material fact. It was a statement regarding a potential future event, which cannot give rise to a claim of negligent misrepresentation.

ARGUMENT

The issue in this case is whether the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children was complied with in the adoption of L.S. The Utah District Court found, in a final judgment issued January 27, 2021, that all terms and conditions of the

ICPC were complied with. Plaintiffs are precluded from relitigating this issue to obtain a contrary result.

This case is in no way about Christopher Shelton's fundamental right to parent. Shelton was provided a full hearing prior to the termination of his parental rights. Moreover, Shelton never intended to parent. He planned to relinquish his parental rights and consent to adoption of the child.

It is also not about the ICPC, as the arguments raised by Plaintiffs regarding ICPC compliance are meritless and based on non-existent requirements. The District Court in Utah determined that the ICPC was complied with, and Shelton and the Costas had every opportunity to challenge ICPC compliance in that proceeding.

Plaintiffs' inflammatory and illusory arguments are intended to distract from Plaintiffs' real goal of overturning the final judgment of a sister state, which has already conclusively determined that the interstate placement and adoption in this case fully complied with the law and should remain final.

I The Issue Of Whether The Adoption Placement Complied With The ICPC Has Already Been Conclusively Determined By The Utah Court.

Collateral estoppel, also referred to as issue preclusion, "bars the reopening of an issue that has been litigated and determined in a prior suit." *Baltrusch v. Baltrusch*, 2006 MT 51, ¶ 15, 331 Mont. 281, 130 P.3d 1267 (citing *Holtman v. 4-G's Plumbing and Heating*, 264 Mont. 432, 439, 872 P.2d 318, 322). The doctrine

precludes relitigating of issues already "determined in a prior suit regardless of whether it was based on the same cause of action as the second suit." *Martelli v. Anaconda-Deer Lodge Cnty.*, 258 Mont. 166, 168, 852 P.2d 579, 580 (1993) (quoting *Lawlor v. National Screen Service*, 349 U.S. 322, 326, 75 S.Ct. 865, 867 (1955)).

There are four requirements that must be met for the litigation of an issue to be precluded by a prior judgment:

- 1. The issue must be identical to the issue decided in the prior adjudication.
- 2. A final judgment on the merits must have issued in the prior adjudication.
- 3. The party against whom preclusion is asserted must have been a party to or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication.
- 4. The party against whom preclusion is asserted must have had opportunity for a full and fair adjudication of the issue in the prior adjudication.

Baltrusch, ¶ 18; Brishka v. State, 2021 MT 129, ¶ 11, 404 Mont. 228, 487 P.3d 771. It is not disputed that the second element, a final judgment on the merits, is met here. See Pl.'s Br. at 16, 18.

a. The Issue Decided In The Utah Case Is Identical To The Issue Raised Here.

The issue decided in the previous case must be "substantively identical" to the issue raised in the present case. Brishka, ¶ 12. Preclusion applies "to all questions essential to the judgment and actively determined by a prior valid

judgment," *Id.* (quoting *Baltrusch*, \P 25), and acts as a bar where the "issues are so intertwined that to decide the issue before it, the district court would have to rehear the precise issue previously decided." *Baltrusch*, ¶ 25 (quoting *Martelli*, 258 Mont. at 169, 852 P.2d at 581). A party cannot avoid preclusion by reframing the same issues or raising new arguments, and a new argument is not necessarily a new issue. Brishka, ¶ 21. If the issue raised in the present case "is simply a new legal" theory for the same issue litigated and adjudicated" in the prior case, then the parties are precluded from litigating it again. Brishka, ¶ 21. Similarly, if a new legal theory or factual assertion is so related to the issues previously adjudicated that it could have been raised in that proceeding, the prior judgment is conclusive. McDaniel v. State, 2009 MT 159, ¶ 33, 350 Mont. 422, 208 P.3d 817 (citing Haines Pipeline Constr., Inc. v. Mont. Power Co., 265 Mont. 282, 288-89, 876 P.2d 632, 636-37 (1994)).

Here, Plaintiff raises new theories and factual assertions to address the identical issue already decided in the prior adjudication. The issue is whether the ICPC was complied with in the adoption of L.S. The Utah District Court, on remand, addressed this identical issue and found that "All terms and conditions of the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children ("ICPC") from the state of Montana were complied with." In this appeal, Plaintiffs allege that the ICPC was *not* complied with because (1) Surbrugg did not have authority to place L.S. for

adoption at the time the ICPC request was submitted; (2) Shelton did not consent to the adoption prior to approval of the ICPC request; and (3) Henning and Davies should not have been designated as "temporary guardians" on the ICPC Form 100A. None of these allegations raises a new issue. Each is merely a new argument or factual assertion addressing the identical legal issue: whether there was compliance with the terms and conditions of the ICPC. Each of these arguments is "so intertwined" with the issue of whether the ICPC was complied with that, in order to hear these issues, the Montana court would have to rehear the issues already submitted to and decided by the Utah court.

First, Plaintiffs assert that in determining that Surbrugg was the sending agency for purposes of ICPC compliance, the Utah District Court did not consider whether Surbrugg was authorized under Montana law to place L.S. for adoption. They assert that because DPHHS had issued a notice of removal, Surbrugg no longer had legal custody of L.S., even though DPHHS never filed a petition for legal custody or took L.S. into its physical care. Therefore, Plaintiffs assert, the Montana Compact Administrator should never have transmitted the ICPC request to Utah.

Surbrugg signed the ICPC Form 100A as the "sending agency or person" and identified herself as the "agency or person responsible for planning for the child." App'x 3. The Utah District Court considered the ICPC Form 100A in

making its determination that all terms and conditions of the ICPC were complied with. Plaintiffs' argument that Surbrugg did not have authority to act as the "sending agency" was relevant and closely intertwined with that determination. *See Brishka*, ¶ 21. Plaintiffs had the opportunity, and indeed the obligation, to raise that issue during the Utah proceedings. They did not, and they are precluded from doing so here.

Plaintiffs next assert that the Compact Administrator should not have transmitted the ICPC request to Utah because it did not include a consent to adoption or relinquishment of parental rights executed by Shelton. The issue of Shelton's consent or relinquishment was plainly addressed by the Utah District Court as part of the termination of his parental rights. Any arguments regarding whether Shelton's objection to the adoption rendered the ICPC process inadequate were, again, so intimately connected to the matters addressed in the Utah proceeding that they could, and should, have been raised. *Id*.

Plaintiffs argue that the Utah court also did not consider whether the ICPC Form 100A improperly designated the adoptive parents as "legal guardians." The Utah District Court found, "Compliance with ICPC is evidenced in this matter by the DPHHS-CFS-109C ICPC 100A Form signed by the Sending State (Montana) Compact Administrator on February 8, 2016, and by the Receiving State Compact Administrator on February 9, 2016." App'x 2, ¶ 6. The Utah court considered the

ICPC Form 100A and conclusively determined the issue of ICPC compliance, finding that the requirements of the ICPC were met. Plaintiffs could have raised the specific issue of whether it was improper to deem Davies and Hennings "legal guardians" on the ICPC 100A Form, but they did not.

Plaintiffs also assert that the Utah findings should not preclude relitigation of whether the ICPC was complied with because the Utah courts focused only on whether the alleged non-compliance deprived Utah of jurisdiction, not on whether there was actual compliance with the ICPC. This was true of the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court proceedings, but not the District Court proceedings on remand. The Utah District Court was required to make factual findings regarding whether all the requirements of the ICPC were met, and those findings were not limited to the question of jurisdiction. The Utah District Court expressly found, "All terms and conditions of the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children ('ICPC') from the state of Montana were complied with. App'x 2, ¶3.

While trying to avoid application of the Utah courts' final judgment,
Plaintiffs simultaneously rely on statements in the Court of Appeals and Utah
Supreme Court discussing the effect of any potential ICPC non-compliance as the
"law of the case." Appellants' Br. at 9-10. The Court of Appeals "acknowledge[d]
that the ICPC form in this case was defective in that it listed Purported Father,
rather than Father, as Child's parent." App'x 5, ¶ 28. Plaintiffs ignore, however,

that although the ICPC *form* (Form 100A) was deficient, there appeared to be the possibility that the cover letter submitted with the form had cured that deficiency. The Court of Appeals did not make findings of fact regarding the issue of ICPC compliance, because it is not a fact-finding court. Instead, it observed that the District Court had failed to enter findings regarding ICPC compliance, and remanded for entry of those findings. The Utah Supreme Court further noted that any ICPC defects found on remand could be cured to allow reinstatement of the adoption decree. On remand, the District Court found that there were no defects, and the ICPC had been complied with.

Each of the cases cited by Plaintiffs are also clearly distinguishable. In *Thoring v. LaCounte*, 225 Mont. 77, 81, 733 P.2d 340, 342-43, a Montana tavern had served alcoholic beverages to a driver who later caused a fatal accident in North Dakota. *Thoring v. LaCounte*, 225 Mont. 77, 79, 733 P.2d 340, 341; *Nehring v. LaCounte*, 219 Mont. 462, 464, 712 P.2d 1329 (1986). Thoring, the father of a woman killed in the accident, filed suits in both Montana and North Dakota. In both suits, he had alleged violations of the North Dakota Dram Shop Act by the Montana bar owners, LaCountes. *Thoring*, 225 Mont. at 79-81. The North Dakota Supreme Court "narrowly [held] that a Montana bar could not be liable under the North Dakota Dram Shop Act," and that claim was dismissed. *Thoring*, 225 Mont.

at 81. The Montana District Court granted summary judgment on the count of Thoring's Montana complaint alleging violations of the North Dakota Dram Shop Act, but "allowed Thoring's claims as to the alleged negligence of LaCountes under Montana law to go forward." *Id.* at 82. The Montana Supreme Court affirmed this result. *Id.*

In *Thoring*, both the North Dakota and Montana proceedings raised the issue of violations of the North Dakota Dram Shop Act. The North Dakota court held that the Act could not be applied to a Montana bar, and the Montana court applied this holding to grant summary judgment as to the same claims brought in Montana. Similarly, in this case, both the Utah and Montana proceedings raised the issue of ICPC compliance. The Utah court held that the ICPC was complied with, and it was therefore proper for the Montana court to apply this holding and grant summary judgment as to the same claims brought in Montana.

In *Thoring*, the Montana court alleged a separate negligence-based claim to move forward. Similarly, here, the Montana court did not grant summary judgment on the separate negligent misrepresentation claim on the basis of issue preclusion. Instead, Plaintiffs simply failed to demonstrate the existence of necessary elements of that claim. In *Thoring*, the North Dakota Dram Shop Act claims and the Montana common-law negligence claim were not based on the same provisions of law. Here, both the Utah case and the Montana case are based on the ICPC, an

interstate compact adopted by both jurisdictions. Application of *Thoring* supports affirming the District Court's grant of summary judgment to DPHHS because the issue in both the Utah and Montana proceedings, whether the ICPC was complied with, was the same.

Plaintiffs also compare this case to *Fadness v. Cody*, 287 Mont. 89, 951 P.2d 584 (1997). In *Fadness*, the plaintiffs had previously sued the buyer, alleging that "a promissory note was missing and . . . the mortgage was altered, before it was returned for recording." *Id.*, 287 Mont. at 93. Fadnesses won title to the property and punitive damages for actual fraud. *Id.* Fadnesses then sued the closing agent and real estate agent, alleging negligence and breach of fiduciary duty "to the extent that the real estate transaction documents were 'lost, altered, or forged." *Id.*, 287 Mont. at 94. The Montana Supreme Court held that the claims against the two agents were not precluded by the prior suit against the buyers. *Id.*, 287 Mont. at 97. The first suit, alleging intentional wrongdoing by the buyers, did not consider the issue of negligence by the agents. *Id.*

Here, the Utah proceeding very expressly considered the issue of whether the ICPC was complied with, affirmatively and definitively holding that all terms and conditions of the ICPC were complied with. Plaintiffs cannot now seek a different finding regarding ICPC compliance from Montana courts. Notably, the judgment sought in the second *Fadness* suit could easily have co-existed with the

first one: whether the buyers committed fraud was not necessarily determinative of whether the agents had a duty, or breached that duty, to prevent or detect that fraud. It is both legally and factually possible for the buyers to have committed fraud and yet for the agents to not have been negligent. That is not true here. Either the ICPC was complied with, or it was not, and any potential finding of non-compliance in Montana necessary conflicts with and calls into question the finality of the Utah judgment and adoption decree.

Finally, Plaintiffs allege that the Utah court failed to apply Montana law when it did not find that the alleged ICPC defect deprived the Utah court of jurisdiction. Plaintiffs cite *In re Adoption of T.M.M.*, in which adoptive parents had brought the child from Mississippi to Montana with no ICPC notice whatsoever. *In re Adoption of T.M.M.*, 186 Mont. 460, 464-65, 608 P.2d 130, 133 (1980). The child was returned to the birth mother after she revoked her consent to the adoption. *Id.*, 186 Mont. at 466-67.

In *T.M.M.*, it was undisputed that the ICPC was not complied with. The adoptive parents instead argued that the compact did not apply. *Id.*, 186 Mont. at 465. Here, there has been a definitive holding that the ICPC was complied with. The holding of *T.M.M.* does not apply to this case. In *T.M.M.*, the child was returned to the birth mother not because the Montana court did not have jurisdiction, or even directly because of non-compliance with the ICPC. Instead,

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